68634-8

## NO. 68634-8-1

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# TERRIE LEWARK, assignee of PUBLIC STORAGE,

Appellant, v.

AMERICAN STATES INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James M. Beecher, WSBA #468 HACKETT, BEECHER & HART Attorneys for Appellant 1601 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101-1651 Telephone: (206) 624-2200 E-mail: jbeecher@hackettbeecher.com

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the scope of additional insured coverage under a commercial umbrella liability policy. American States issued the policy to the Davis Door Company. The principal question is whether Public Storage is an additional insured under that policy for an injury claim arising out of Davis Door's work for Public Storage.

Terrie Lewark suffered a serious back injury while attempting to lift a defective door to a rented storage unit in a Public Storage, Inc. facility. Ms. Lewark sued Public Storage. Ms. Lewark found in discovery that Davis Door had improperly repaired the door shortly before she was injured, so she added Davis Door as a party to that suit.

In February 2010, Public Storage separately settled its own liability to Ms. Lewark for \$299,000 plus an assignment of Public Storage's indemnity and insurance rights under a Master Agreement covering Davis Door's maintenance work for Public Storage.

Ms. Lewark's injury claim against Davis Door was settled five months later during trial for an additional \$225,000 paid by Davis Door's insurer American States.

1.

This appeal deals with Public Storage's status and rights as an additional insured under Davis Door's American States policy. These rights were assigned to Ms. Lewark by Public Storage, and include extra-contractual claims resulting from bad faith claims handling.

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. It was error to hold that Public Storage was not an additional insured under the American States' Commercial Umbrella Liability policy purchased by Davis Door.

#### Issue:

Davis Door contracted to add Public Storage as an additional insured in Davis Door's commercial general liability insurance coverage. Davis Door's Commercial Umbrella Liability policy issued by American States granted additional insured status to anyone that Davis Door had contracted to provide "the kind of insurance afforded by this policy." Is commercial general liability insurance the "kind of insurance" afforded by the Commercial Umbrella Liability policy in question? Issue:

Public Storage was unaware it was an additional insured under the American States policy until after it settled Ms. Lewark's suit. Did Public Storage forfeit all its rights as an additional insured by failing to tender to American States until after it learned it was insured by American States?

#### Issue:

The American States policy states it "is excess over, and shall not contribute with any other insurance." Public Storage owned a policy with a self-insured retention of \$500,000. Is the self-insured retention "other insurance" that relieves American States from coverage for the Lewark suit?

#### Issue:

Did Public Storage forfeit its additional insured's rights by settling its share of liability to Ms. Lewark without the prior approval of American States?

3.

2. The trial court erred when it dismissed Public Storage's extra-contractual claims against American States.

#### Issue:

When American States became aware that Public Storage was its additional insured for the Lewark claim, did the insurer violate its duty of good faith by failing to reveal that coverage to Public Storage?

3. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied discovery of American States' records relating to its investigation and knowledge of Public Storage's rights under its policy.

#### Issue:

In the investigation of the of the extra-contractual claims, plaintiff requested production of American States' records relating to its investigation and knowledge of Public Storage's rights as its additional insured. Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny access to all 311 pages of records which American States withheld as "work product" without first conducting an *in camera* review?

#### Issue:

Should the Trial Court have conducted an *in camera* inspection of an additional nine pages of records withheld under a claim of attorney-client privilege?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The underlying Injury and suit.

Following multiple low back surgeries and permanent disability, Terrie Lewark brought suit against Public Storage, Inc. (formerly known as Shurgard) and Davis Door, Inc. (CP 858) Her suit alleged she sustained a back injury in 2006, while lifting a door negligently maintained by Davis Door at a Public Storage facility. (CP 858)

Public Storage settled its share of liability to Ms. Lewark in February 2010, for a payment of \$299,000, plus an assignment of Public Storage's rights under a Master Agreement with its vendor Davis Door. (CP 534, 540)

American States later settled Davis Door's liability to Ms. Lewark for an additional payment of \$225,000. (CP 544)

5.

### B. American States' liability coverage for Davis Door.

When Ms. Lewark's injury occurred, Davis Door owned two Safeco branded policies: an American Economy Commercial General Liability policy (CP 423) and an American States Commercial Umbrella Liability policy. (CP 427)

Only the American States' umbrella policy is at issue. American States defended Davis Door under its umbrella policy (CP 326 & 337) and Public Storage claims additional insured status only under the same umbrella policy. (CP 326)

American States accepted the Lewark claim against Davis Door (CP 414) and controlled the defense through a staff attorney of its parent, Liberty Mutual. (CP 454)

#### C. Public Storage's own policy did not apply.

A \$500,000 self-insured retention (or "SIR") applied to a National Union liability policy owned by Public Storage. (CP 638,639) That policy insured Public Storage only for that part of any loss exceeding \$500,000, including defense costs. (CP 639) Public Storage paid out \$299,000 to Ms. Lewark (CP 534) plus \$150,028 in defense costs (CP 500) so its total costs were short of the \$500,000 threshold necessary to trigger its own policy.

# D. Public Storage's unknown status as an additional insured under Davis Door's American States policy.

Davis Door's American States umbrella policy also insured "any person or organization" for which Davis Door was required by "written contract" to provide "the kind of insurance afforded by this policy." (CP 428)

Such a "written contract" was part of a Master Agreement between Public Storage and Davis Door which was renewed shortly before Ms. Lewark was injured. (CP 507) Unfortunately, the insurance section of the Master Agreement reproduced in the Clerk's Papers is partly illegible. (CP 507) However, American States' own motion pleadings accurately quote the insurance section of the Master Agreement which triggered additional insured coverage for Public Storage. (CP 724)

Davis Door was required to provide the following insurance:

a. Employer's liability insurance of not less than \$1,000,000, and <u>commercial general liability insurance insuring</u> <u>against claims for personal injury, death or property</u> <u>damage</u> occurring upon, in or about the Property in limits not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence. Prior to the start of any work a certificate of insurance must be received by Owner naming <u>Public Storage, Inc.</u> and each of its affiliates, subsidiaries, partners, owners, officers, directors and employees as <u>additional insureds</u>.

Emphasis added. (CP 724)

Public Storage was not aware it had coverage under Davis Door's umbrella until after it had settled the Lewark claim. (CP 711)

#### E. Breach of contract and extra-contractual claims.

As assignee of the rights of Public Storage, Ms. Lewark sued both Davis Door and its insurer American States. (CP 322) Following agreed dismissal of Davis Door, this case deals only with American States' additional insured coverage and its violation of claims handling obligations. (CP 828) The Complaint alleges breach of contract claims for defense and indemnity benefits owed to Public Storage. (CP 330-331) Separately stated are extracontractual claims for negligence, bad faith and violation of the Consumer Protection and Insurance Fair Conduct Acts. (CP 330-332)

American States denies that Public Storage is an additional insured because it claims that its Commercial Umbrella Liability policy is not "the kind of insurance" required by Davis Door's promise to secure "commercial general liability insurance" for Public Storage. (CP 723-724)

American States asserts that even if Public Storage is an additional insured, it has no indemnity obligation because the

8.

American States policy is excess over the \$500,000 self-insured

retention in Public Storage's own insurance program. (CP 401) It

further argues that it had no obligation to defend or indemnify

because Public Storage did not tender the claim to American States

before it settled its liability to Ms. Lewark. (CP 395)

# IV. ARGUMENT

## 1. Public Storage was an additional insured under the American States policy purchased by Davis Door.

A. <u>American States' coverage is triggered for Public Storage</u> by the Master Agreement.

The policy provision at issue provides:

Each of the following is an insured under this policy to the extent set forth below:

G. <u>An person or organization for which an insured is</u> required by virtue of a written contract entered into prior to an "occurrence" to provide the kind of insurance that is afforded by this policy, but only with respect to operations by or on an insured's behalf, or to facilities an insured owns or uses, and only to the extent of the limits of insurance required by such contract, but not to exceed the applicable limits of insurance set forth in this policy. (Emphasis supplied) (CP 428)

As conceded by American States - "Thus the question is

whether Davis Door contracted 'to provide the kind of insurance

that is afforded by this policy." (CP 723)

The insurance provision in the Master Agreement required Davis Door to provide:

> a. Employer's liability insurance of not less than \$1,000,000, and commercial general liability insurance insuring against claims for personal injury, death or property damage occurring upon, in or about the Property in limits not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence. Prior to the start of any work, a certificate of insurance must be received by Owner naming <u>Public Storage, Inc</u>. and each of its affiliates, subsidiaries, partners, owners, officers, directors and employees as <u>additional insureds</u>. [Emphasis supplied] (CP 507, 724)

American States' <u>only</u> argument against Public Storage's status as its insured is its claim that umbrella liability insurance is a different "kind of insurance" than the commercial general liability insurance contemplated by the Master Agreement. Without analysis or any authority, ASIC simply argued that: "Nothing in the Master Agreement refers to umbrella coverage." (CP 724)

Construction related businesses often are required to purchase insurance to directly protect the policyholder's customer from liability arising out of the policyholder's operations for that customer. The Master Agreement in this case is an example. It is agreed that Davis Door's basic policy excluded this claim, but that the umbrella policy insured Davis Door's customer if "the kind of

10.

insurance afforded by this policy" is required by Davis Door's written agreement with its customer.

American States chose to use an imprecise phrase for extending additional insured coverage when "the kind of insurance that is afforded by this policy" is required. Neither "commercial general liability insurance" nor "commercial umbrella liability insurance" are defined terms. Each would be expected to be the "kind of insurance" protecting insureds from a broad range of risks related to commercial activity.

B. The interpretation of the policy phrase "kind of insurance."

Washington case law directs liberal interpretation of grants

of coverage to accomplish the intended purpose of the parties.

It must not be forgotten that the purpose of insurance is to insure, and that construction should be taken which will render the contract operative, rather than inoperative.

> Phil Schroeder, Inc. v. Royal Globe Ins. Co., 99 Wn.2d 65, 68 (1983)

Inclusionary clauses are liberally construed in favor of

#### coverage.

In responding to the certified question, we observe, first, that because the pertinent clause provides for coverage to persons who are included in the definition of relative, it is an inclusionary clause. See, e.g. *Tokley v. State Farm Ins. Cos.*, 782 F. Supp. 1375, 1378 (1992) (holding that the

definition of "relative" is a provision that defines the persons to whom coverage is extended, as opposed to defining persons excluded from coverage, and is therefore an inclusionary clause). As a general principle, courts must liberally construe inclusionary clauses in insurance policies in favor of coverage for those who can reasonably be embraced within the terms of the clause.

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Ruiz, 134 Wn.2d 713, 718 (1998)

Insurance companies are not allowed to deny coverage

based on unclear or ambiguous policy language.

"The industry knows how to protect itself and it knows how to write exclusions and conditions." (Citation omitted.) If Allstate intends "hidden" to mean "unknown," it must say so. Further, to the extent the term is ambiguous, it must be construed against the insurer. "It is Hornbook law that where a clause in an insurance policy is ambiguous, the meaning and construction most favorable to the insured must be applied...."

> Panorama Village Condominium Owners Ass'n. Bd. of Directors v. Allstate Ins. Co., 144 Wn.2d 130, 141 (2001)

The insurance protection called for in the Master Agreement

falls well within the scope of the liability protection of the umbrella policy. Rules for interpretation of insurance policy language compel a finding that Public Storage was entitled to liability coverage for the Lewark suit.

- 2. Public Storage did not forfeit its insurance benefits by late tender.
  - A. The late tender rule.

Public Storage separately settled with Ms. Lewark in

February 2010. (CP 534) It later tendered the Lewark claim to

American States when it found out it had coverage under Davis

Door's umbrella policy. (CP 711)

Late tender does not forfeit an insureds policy rights unless

the insurer proves it was actually and substantially prejudiced by

the late tender.

Noncompliance with a policy provision does not deprive the insured of the benefits of the policy unless the insurer demonstrates actual prejudice resulting from the insured's noncompliance. The burden of proof is on the insurer; prejudice is ordinarily a question of fact. *Canon, Inc. v. Federal Ins. Co.,* 82 Wash. App. 480, 485 (1996)

Even in a case where coverage was not discovered until

more than two years after the underlying suit had been settled, it

was held in Mutual of Enumclaw v. USF Insurance Co., 164 Wn.2d

411, 422 (2008) that:

The "late tender" rule provides that an insured's breach of an insurance contract through failure to notify the insurer of a claim does not relieve the insurer of the obligation to perform under the insurance contract unless the insured can prove that the late notice caused it actual and substantial prejudice.

American States would be hard pressed to argue "actual and substantial" prejudice due to late tender in light of its investigation, defense and indemnity provided to Davis Door in the same underlying suit. American States has not even claimed it was prejudiced.

#### B. No Waiver.

Contrary to the assertion of American States staff counsel assigned to defend Davis Door, (CP 454) Public Storage did not waive its right to insurance coverage under the Master Agreement.

> Waiver requires "the intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right [and i]t must be shown by unequivocal acts or conduct showing an intent to waive, and the conduct must also be inconsistent with any intention other than to waive. *Gross v. Sunding*, 139 Wn. App. 54, 61 (2007)

Public Storage did not know it was insured by American States until after settling its liability to Ms. Lewark, (CP 711) so it could not have waived a known right. C. <u>The \$500,000 self-insured retention is not "other</u> insurance" available to Public Storage.

American States argues that its "other insurance" clause makes it excess over the self-insured retention in Public Storage's own insurance program. (CP 401)

The "other insurance" clause in the American States policy reads as follows:

E. OTHER INSURANCE

 This insurance is excess over, and shall not contribute with any other insurance, whether primary, excess, contingent or on any other basis. This condition will not apply to insurance written specifically as excess over this policy. (CP 433)

The \$500,000 self-insured retention beneath Public

Storage's own liability coverage was not "other insurance." (CP

638-639)

A self-insured retention is simply not insurance. This Court

made that perfectly clear by the following holding in Bordeau v.

American Safety Ins. Co., 145 Wn. App. 687, 694 (2008) at ¶ 15:

We agree with Bordeaux and Cameray that "selfinsurance" provisions are not insurance. The *Bordeaux* case analyzes and rejects American State's argument that self-insurance retentions should be considered "other insurance." It states at ¶ 18:

The basic flaw in American Safety's argument is that it fails to recognize that traditional insurance involves risk shifting, while self-insurance involves risk retention.

Since there was no "other insurance" as defined in its policy, American States alone covered Public Storage for Ms. Lewark's

claim.

# 3. Extra-contractual claims should not have been dismissed on summary judgment.

In addition to breach of contract, plaintiff alleges that

American States violated its duty of good faith toward Public

Storage as required by case law, statutes and insurance

regulations. (CP 328) The extra-contractual claims grow out of

American States failure to disclose coverage and benefits available

to Public Storage under the Davis Door umbrella policy.

A. <u>American States knew Public Storage was in</u> additional insured.

Unlike the underlying policy (that only provided additional insured coverage during Davis Door's "on going" operations) the

umbrella provided additional insured status for Davis Door's "completed operations." (CP 297)

Though Public Storage was not aware it was covered for the Lewark claim by the umbrella, (CP 711) American States knew Public Storage was an additional insured (CP 549). More importantly it knew its umbrella granted completed operations coverage if Davis Door had contracted to provide "the kind of insurance" it provided. (CP 428) American States admits that it knew of the Master Agreement requiring this coverage no later than November 2009. (CP 414) It was not until 3½ - months later that Public Storage settled the Lewark claim (CP 534) while still in the dark about the coverage available from American States. (CP 711) American States gives no factual excuse for remaining silent about its obligation to Public Storage.

# B. <u>Good faith required American States to inform Public</u> <u>Storage of its policy benefits</u>.

American States argued that it was not legally obligated to reveal its coverage to Public Storage because "an insurer has no duty to put an insured on notice that it might want to tender a claim to the insurer." (CP 398) This position falls far short of the high standard of good faith required of insurers.

17.

In Van Noy v. State Farm, 142 Wn.2d 784 (2001) the court rejected a similar assertion when State Farm argued that it had no duty to "disclose all facts that would aid its insureds in protecting their interests." Van Noy (at p. 791) holds that "a fiduciary or quasifiduciary relationship exists between an insurer and its insured." At footnote 2 to the opinion, the majority reflects further on this relationship as follows:

> We note that Justice Talmadge asserts, in his concurring opinion, that an insurer does not owe a fiduciary duty to its insureds in the first-party insurance context, but rather, owes only a duty of "good faith." We are doubtful that there is any real difference between a "fiduciary" duty and a duty of "good faith" in the insurance context. We say that because we have long held that the duty of the insurer to act in good faith toward the insured is the same as the fiduciary relationship that the insurer has to the insured. See, Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wash.2d 381, 385, 714 P.2d 1133 (1986) ("The duty to act in good faith or liability for acting in bad faith generally refers to the same obligation . . . . the fiduciary relationship existing between the insurer and insured.")

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