68634-8

68634-8

No. 68634-8-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

TERRIE LEWARK, assignee of PUBLIC STORAGE

Plaintiff/Appellant,

V.

AMERICAN STATES INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer,

Defendant/Respondent

and

DAVIS DOOR SERVICES, INC.

Defendant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AMERICAN STATES INSURANCE COMPANY

David M. Jacobi, WSBA #13524 Shawnmarie Stanton, WSBA #20112 WILSON SMITH COCHRAN DICKERSON 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, Washington 98164-2050 Telephone: 206.623.4100

Electronic mail: jacobi@wscd.com

ORICI'!AL

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The trial court's dismissal of the claims against ASIC on summary

judgment is subject to *de novo* review.⁵ This Court may affirm summary judgment on any grounds supported by the record.⁶

The trial court's denial of PS's motion to compel privileged documents is reviewed for abuse of discretion.

B. The trial court properly concluded PS is not an additional insured under the umbrella/excess insurance policy ASIC issued to Davis.

To assert a bad faith claim as PS's assignee, Lewark had to show that PS was an additional insured, to whom ASIC owed duties as an insurer, under the umbrella/excess insurance policy that ASIC issued to Davis. As a matter of law, the wording of the "Master Agreement" between PS and Davis and the wording of the umbrella/excess policy did not make PS an additional insured. The contract did not require Davis to make PS an additional insured under an umbrella/excess insurance policy – and, in fact, in his own communications with Davis, counsel for PS specifically referred to *primary* insurance coverage. More importantly, the contract that PS drafted specifically required additional insurance coverage only "during the progress of the work" – *i.e.*, the "ongoing operations" coverage that was extended to PS as an additional insured under the primary CGL policy ASIC issued to Davis.

⁵ Blue Diamond Group, Inc. v. KB Seattle 1, Inc., 163 Wn. App. 449, 453, 266 P.3d 881 (2011) (citing Simpson Tacoma Kraft Co. v. Dep't of Ecology, 119 Wn.2d 640, 646, 835 P.2d 1030 (1992); Michak v. Transnation Title Ins. Co., 148 Wn.2d 788, 794, 64 P.3d 22 (2003)). ⁶ Id. (citing Allstot v. Edwards, 116 Wn. App. 424, 430, 65 P.3d 696 (2003)).

⁷ Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 157 Wn. App. 267, 237 P.3d 309 (2010) (citing Barry v. USAA, 98 Wn. App. 199, 204, 989 P.2d 1172 (1999).

There was no contractual requirement that Davis obtain completed operations coverage for PS's benefit as an additional insured and no contractual requirement that Davis obtain umbrella/excess liability insurance for PS as an additional insured. Because PS's status as an additional insured goes no further than the requirements of the "Master Agreement" between PS and Davis, PS was an additional insured for ongoing operations under the primary CGL policy – and no more.

The trial court's decision granting ASIC's motion or summary judgment may be affirmed on any basis supported in the record.⁸ The undisputed facts establish that PS did not satisfy the requirements to qualify as an additional insured under the ASIC umbrella/excess policy, because Davis did not agree to provide completed operations additional insured coverage to PS or to provide umbrella/excess additional insured coverage to PS. Thus, PS's theory that the umbrella/excess policy is required to "drop down" to provide such coverage to PS fails as a matter of law.

The 2006 Master Agreement, which Davis signed before Ms. Lewark was injured, provided:

- 10. Insurance. Contractor shall procure and maintain at its own expense *during the entire progress of the Work*, the following insurance coverage from an insurance company satisfactory to Owner:
 - a. . . commercial general liability insurance insuring against claim for

⁸ Wendle v. Farrow, 102 Wn.2d 380, 382, 686 P.2d 480 (1984) (citing Gross v. Lynnwood, 90 Wn.2d 395, 401, 583 P.2d 1197 (1978)).

personal injury . . . occurring upon, in or about the Property in limits of not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence. Prior to the start of any work, a certificate of insurance must be received by Owner naming Public Storage, Inc., and each of its affiliates subsidiaries, partners, owners, officers, directors and employees as additional insureds. . . .

(CP 1221; emphasis added)9

By contract, Davis agreed to obtain commercial general liability insurance coverage with \$1 million per occurrence limits, and to make PS an additional insured *during the progress of Davis's work*. The primary CGL policy that ASIC issued to Davis provided precisely the additional insured coverage that the contract, drafted by PS, required Davis to obtain – "ongoing operations" coverage. Lewark has never disputed that, pursuant to the terms of the primary CGL policy, PS was entitled only to additional insured coverage for injuries that occurred while Davis was performing its work – and there is no dispute that Ms. Lewark's injury occurred after Davis had completed its repair work and when Davis was no longer at the PS storage facility where she was injured.

Because the primary CGL additional insured coverage for "ongoing operations" unquestionably did not apply to Ms. Lewark's claims against PS, Lewark now contends that PS was entitled to coverage as an additional

⁹ The 2006 Master Agreement is included in multiple places in the record, but copying has rendered a previously highlighted portion barely legible. CP 1221 presents the most legible copy. The parties do not dispute what that provision says. Brief of Appellant at 7.

insured under Davis's umbrella/excess insurance policy. The umbrella/excess policy extends coverage to insureds other than Davis only to the extent required by a contract between Davis and a third party:

Each of the following is an insured under this policy to the extent set forth below:

G. Any person or organization for which an insured is required by virtue of a written contract entered into prior to an "occurrence" to provide the kind of insurance that is afforded by this policy, but only with respect to operations by or on an insured's behalf, or to facilities an insured owns or uses, and only to the extent of the limits of insurance required by such contract, but not to exceed the applicable limits of insurance set forth in this policy.

(CP 428; emphasis added)

Lewark claims the phrase "kind of insurance afforded by this policy," as it is used in this provision is ambiguous, but it never offers the Court an interpretation of that provision – much less two reasonable and competing interpretations such that the provision could be deemed "ambiguous." A provision in an insurance policy will be considered ambiguous only if it is susceptible to two reasonable interpretations.

Here, there is only one reasonable and relevant interpretation. The "kind of insurance" afforded by the umbrella/excess policy is determined by reviewing the terms of the policy *and* the requirements of the contract between the named insured and the putative "additional insured." In its own

¹⁰ Brief of Appellant at 10 - 12.

¹¹ Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 654, 666, 15 P.3d 115 (2000).

communications with Davis and ASIC, PS made it clear that the "kind of insurance" that was required by its contract is *primary* coverage. (CP 456) Lewark nevertheless argues that, because the CGL policy provides additional insured coverage only for "ongoing operations," the umbrella/excess policy should "drop down" to provide "completed operations" coverage to PS – as would be required if PS is going to qualify as an additional insured for her completed operations claim.

Thus, the "kind of insurance" that must be required by the Master Agreement between Davis and PS is (1) coverage for completed operations and (2) umbrella/excess insurance. If PS – who wrote the Master Agreement – wanted to require Davis to obtain umbrella/excess liability insurance for completed operations, PS had the ability to write a clear provision that required that kind of insurance. The onus was on PS – as the drafter and the party requiring Davis to obtain insurance – to provide a plain and unambiguous description of the insurance Davis needed to obtain. Neither PS nor its assignee, Lewark, should be permitted to try to expand the Master Agreement's insurance requirement, *post hoc*, when it turns out the insurance required by the contract does not extend far enough to cover a particular type of claim. ¹²

Davis agreed to provide additional insured coverage during the course of its work. Davis did provide PS with ongoing operations additional insured

¹² See Davis Door's motion seeking dismissal of Lewark's "failure to obtain insurance claim." (CP 1938-1951)

coverage via the CGL policy. Because PS did not require Davis to obtain completed operations additional insured coverage, nor did it require Davis to obtain umbrella/excess additional insured coverage for PS, PS never qualified as an additional insured under that policy at all.

This Court addressed the meaning of "ongoing operations" in the context of insurance coverage in *Hartford Insurance Co. v. Ohio Casualty Insurance Co.*¹³ That case addressed the question whether an additional insured endorsement that provided coverage only with respect to the named insured's "ongoing operations for that insured" applied to property damage occurring after the named insured's work is complete. The Court concluded that "ongoing operations" coverage does not extend to injury that occurs after completion of the named insured's work.¹⁴

The same reasoning applies to the Master Agreement's insurance provision. Davis agreed to provide additional insured coverage to PS during the progress of Davis's work. (CP 1221) Ms. Lewark's injuries unquestionably occurred after Davis's work was completed. Like the "ongoing operations" limitation in the policy in Hartford, the limitation in the Master Agreement's insurance requirement means Davis did not contract to provide additional insured coverage for PS arising out of Davis's "completed operations." As a result, PS never qualified as an "additional insured" under the umbrella/excess policy. It is, instead, a stranger to that contract. PS never

^{13 145} Wn. App. 765, 189 P.3d 195 (2008).

^{14 145} Wn. App. at 778.

applied for coverage from ASIC; PS never paid a premium for coverage from ASIC; and PS is entitled to coverage only to the extent the Master Agreement that it wrote required Davis to make PS an additional insured under an insurance policy that Davis purchased from ASIC.

The trial court properly concluded that PS did not qualify as an insured under the umbrella/excess policy as a matter of law; and properly dismissed Lewark's assigned breach of contract claim against ASIC under the umbrella/excess policy.

C. Even if PS were an additional insured under the umbrella/excess policy, its settlement with Ms. Lewark did not trigger coverage under that policy.

The umbrella/excess policy include the following provision, which specifically makes the policy excess over any other insurance and the self-insured retention or deductibles under any other insurance:

E. OTHER INSURANCE

- This insurance is excess over, and shall not contribute with any other insurance, whether primary, excess, contingent or on any other basis. This condition will not apply to insurance written specifically as excess over this policy.
- When this insurance is excess, we will have no duty to defend the insured against any "suit" if any other insurer has a duty to defend the insured against that "suit". If no other insurer defends, we will undertake to do so, but we will be entitled to your rights against all other insurers, and you shall execute and deliver instruments and papers, including assignments of rights, and do whatever else is necessary to secure such rights.
- When this insurance is <u>excess over</u> other insurance, we will pay our share of the "ultimate net loss" that exceeds the sum of:

- a. The total amount that all such other insurance would pay for the loss in the absence of this insurance; and
- b. The total of <u>all deductible and self-insured amounts under all such other insurance</u>.

(CP 433; emphasis added) Even if PS is treated as an additional insured under the umbrella/excess policy, ASIC would not "drop down" to provide coverage to PS until the self-insured retention under PS's other coverage has been exhausted.

PS did indeed have other coverage. National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, P.A. ("NUFIC"), issued a primary CGL policy to Public Storage, Inc., for the period April 1, 2006, to April 1, 2007. (CP 568 – 647) The policy includes a \$1,500,000 per occurrence limit. (CP 647) It also includes a Self-Insured Retention ("SIR") Endorsement, which provides that NUFIC will pay on behalf of Public Storage "those sums in excess of the 'Retained Limit' that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay because of 'bodily injury'." (CP 638) The "Retained Limit" is **\$500,000 per** occurrence. (CP 639)

Neither PS nor Lewark as PS's assignee has ever alleged, much less offered evidence to show, that PS has satisfied the \$500,000 retained limit under PS's NUFIC insurance policy.

Lewark's only argument against application of the Other Insurance clause in the umbrella/excess policy is that the \$500,000 Self-Insured

Retention is not "other insurance." That question is not even relevant here, because the umbrella/excess policy specifically states that it is excess above deductibles and self-insured retentions in other available insurance. Furthermore, the case law does not support Lewark's argument.

Lewark relies entirely on *Bordeaux, Inc. v. American Safety Insurance*Co. 16 in support of its claim that the Other Insurance clause does not apply.

Bordeaux never addressed the issue presented here. In Bordeaux, the question was whether a self-insured retention ("SIR") operates as "insurance for the purpose of subrogation." Specifically, the Court analyzed whether, in a subrogation action, an insured is entitled to be reimbursed for any SIR it may have paid, before its insurer is entitled to reimbursement. The Court concluded the insured is entitled to receive reimbursement for an SIR it has paid (i.e., to be "made whole") before the insurer is entitled to any recovery in subrogation.

This case does not involve subrogation or the "make whole" doctrine.; and the relevant question is not, as Lewark would have it, whether an SIR is "insurance." Here, the express language of the Other Insurance clause in the umbrella/excess policy requires exhaustion of the SIR of the NUFIC policy before the umbrella/excess policy is triggered – and Lewark has not offered any reason why the plain wording should not be enforced.

¹⁵ Brief of Appellant at 15 – 16.

17 145 Wn. App. at 696.

¹⁶ 145 Wn. App. 687, 186 P.3d 1188 (2008).

Odessa School District No. 105 v. Insurance Co. of America involved a similar fact pattern. 18 Odessa involved two policies, one of which had an SIR and both of which had clauses which purported to make them excess over other insurance. This Court concluded that the SIR applied first, then both policies were treated as excess and would both contribute.

The same reasoning governs here. The ASIC umbrella/excess policy expressly states that it is "excess over, and shall not contribute with any other insurance[.]" It is also excess over "the total of all deductible and self-insured amounts under all such other insurance." The NUFIC policy is other insurance, meaning the Other Insurance provision is triggered. The NUFIC policy is subject to a \$500,000 SIR and, under the plain wording of the ASIC umbrella/excess policy, that policy is also excess of that SIR and any other applicable SIR or deductible.

The final step is to examine the NUFIC policy to determine whether sufficient payment was made under that policy to trigger the ASIC umbrella/excess policy under this following provision:

- When this insurance is <u>excess over</u> other insurance, we will pay our share of the "ultimate net loss" that exceeds the sum of:
 - The total amount that all such other insurance would pay for the loss in the absence of this insurance; and
 - b. The total of <u>all deductible and self-insured amounts under all such other insurance.</u>

^{18 57} Wn. App. 893, 791 P.2d 237 (1990).

(CP 433; emphasis added) This provision result in the following formula:

Payments by PS – (\$1,500,000 NUFIC limit + \$500,000 NUFIC SIR) = Amount due under ASIC umbrella/excess policy

PS paid \$299,000 to settle the Lewark claim and asserts (without documentation) that it paid \$150,028 in defense costs. (CP 500) Therefore, when the numbers are inserted into the formula, the calculation looks like this:

$$$449.028 - ($2.000.000) = -$1.550.972$$

In other words, the amount due from ASIC is zero – or, to be more exact, it is minus \$1.55 million dollars.

As a result, the trial court properly dismissed Lewark's breach of contract claim on summary judgment.

D. Even if PS had been an additional insured, the trial court properly dismissed Lewark's assigned extra-contractual claims because PS did not tender the Lewark suit to ASIC until after it settled with Lewark.

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